

10/16/2020 1645-02 20-MED-04-0463 39600 Exhibit A

MASTER AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE COVINGTON EXEMPTED VILLAGE SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF EDUCATION

AND THE

OHIO ASSOCIATION OF PUBLIC SCHOOL EMPLOYEES, AFSCME LOCAL 4/AFL-CIO

LOCAL #532

July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article I	<u>Recognition</u>		
	1-1	Recognition	1
Article II	Assoc	ciation Rights	
	2-1	Dues Deductions	1
	2-2	OAPSE Leave	
		Offi DE Leave	
Article III	Negot	<u>tiations</u>	
	3-1	Requests For Negotiations	3
	3-2	Negotiating Teams	3
	3-3	Negotiating Meetings	3
	3-4	Ad Hoc Committees	4
	3-5	Tentative Agreement	4
	3-6	Ratification	4
Article IV	Crio	vance Procedure	
AILICIE IV	<u>611ev</u> 4-1	Definition	1
	4-1 4-2	General Provisions	
	4-2 4-3		
	-	Time Limits	
	4-4	Procedure	
	4-5	Powers of Arbitrator	/
Article V	Work	<u>king Status</u>	
	5-1	Job Bid Procedure	8
	5-2	Employee Discipline	9
	5-3	Workdays	9
	5-4	Breaks	10
	5-5	Eight-Hour Work Day	10
		5-5.1 Lunch Breaks	
	5-6	Mileage Allowance	10
	5-7	Unpaid Days	
	5-8	Calamity Days	
	5-9	Seniority	
	5-10	Deduct Day	
	5-11	School Calendar	
	5-12	Personal Cell Phone Use	
A (° 1 X7T	т.,		
Article VI	-	ff and Recall, Bumping Rights	10
	6-1	Layoff and Recall, Bumping Rights	12
Article VII	Leave	es	
	7-1	Leave of Absence	13
	7-2	Sick Leave	13
	7-3	Personal Leave	
	7-4	Assault Leave	
	7-5	Worker's Compensation Leave	
		L	-

	7-6	Court Leave	16
	7-7	FMLA	16
Article VIII	Class	sification Agreements	
	8-1	Transportation	17
		8-1.1 Regular Routes	
		8-1.2 Transportation Coordinator	
		8-1.3 Extra-Curricular/Field Trips	
		8-1.4 Substitute Bus Driving	
		8-1.5 CDL License	
		8-1.6 Physicals	20
		8-1.7 Alcohol and Drug Testing	20
	8-2	Custodial and Maintenance	
		8-2.1 Custodial Maintenance Coordinator	20
	8-3	Secretarial	20
	8-4	Food Service	
	8-5	Educational Aides	21

Article IX		es and Benefits	22
	9-1	Paid Holidays	
	9-2	Overtime	
	9-3 9-4	Severance Pay	
	9-4 9-5	Vacation Schedule	
	9-5 9-6	Attendance Incentive	
	9-6 9-7	Hospitalization/Surgical//Major Medical Dental Insurance	
	9-8 9-9	Vision Insurance	
		Life Insurance	
	9-10	Opt-Out of Medical Insurance	
	9-11	Wages	
	9-12	Salary	
	9-13	Payday Procedure	
	9-14	Direct Deposit	
	9-15	Supplemental Positions	
	9-16 9-17	Public School Works Training Coursework Reimbursement	
	9-17	Coursework Reinibursement	20
Article X		ral Provisions	
	10-1	Discrimination and Coercion	
	10-2	Conflict with the Law	
	10-3	Understandings	
	10-4	Union Orientation	
	10-5	Management Rights	
	10-6	Duration Agreement	

Appendix A-1	2020-2021 Salary Schedule	\$1
Appendix A-2	2021-2022 Salary Schedule	12
Appendix A-3	2022-2023 Salary Schedule	3
Appendix B	Medical Insurance Summary	4
Appendix C	Beginnings and Stop Times	5
Appendix D	Policy 4162 Drug Testing	6
Appendix E	Grievance Reporting Step I	1 2
Appendix F	Policy 4220 Evaluation Procedure4	4
Appendix G	Staff Discipline	-5

PREAMBLE

It is the purpose of this document to establish and describe a working relationship between the Covington Exempted Village School District Board of Education, hereinafter the "Board," and OAPSE/AFSCME Local 4/AFL/CIO/Local #532 hereinafter the "Association," the exclusive representative of the classified staff.

ARTICLE I -- RECOGNITION

1-1 RECOGNITION

The Board recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive negotiating agent through which the classified staff negotiates matters relating to salary, fringe benefits, and terms of employment.

The classified staff includes aides, bus drivers, custodians, maintenance, secretaries/clerical, and cafeteria employees, including cashiers, employed on a full-time, part-time or hourly basis by the Board. Excluded from recognition are all managerial, supervisory, confidential and substitute employees.

It also recognizes that the individual staff member retains his/her right to express views through the proper chain of command (immediate supervisor, principal (where applicable), superintendent, board of education).

ARTICLE II – ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

2-1 DUES DEDUCTIONS

The Board agrees to deduct the Association dues, state and local, from the pay of the employees requesting that such deductions be made, on a continuing basis.

Membership in the Association shall be continuing unless membership is canceled by submitting a letter to the OAPSE state treasurer during the last ten (10) days of this agreement. Dues deduction authorization cards may be submitted any time and shall be effective within thirty (30) days of submission.

For employees who are under contract for the full school year dues shall be deducted from nineteen (19) consecutive pays beginning with the last pay in September. The first installment shall be for local dues in the amount of \$4.50 and be sent directly to the local treasurer. The second (2nd) through the nineteenth (19th) shall be state dues and shall be submitted to the state treasurer monthly with a list of the employees for whom payment is made and the amount deducted. A copy of the list shall be remitted to the local chapter treasurer.

Partial school year employee deductions will be calculated and installments will be deducted based on remaining number of pays and submitted to the state treasurer accordingly.

The Association agrees to indemnify and save the Board harmless against any and all claims that may arise out of or by reason of action taken by the Board in reliance upon any authorization for dues deduction submitted by the Association.

Fees shall be deducted in eighteen (18) approximately equal installments from the employee's paychecks, beginning with the first pay in October, for employees under contract a full school year.

The dues of an employee who does not work a full work year shall be prorated accordingly and any balance of dues owed shall be deducted from the employee's last paycheck to the extent funds are available in that check or spread over the remaining pays, as may be the case.

The Board agrees to promptly remit such monies to the state association treasurer along with an alphabetical list of employees for whom such deductions have been made and any changes that may have occurred since the previous list. If requested, the list shall contain: names, addresses, phone numbers, email addresses, hours per week, rate of pay, classification, work location, and shift of all bargaining unit employees.

The Board agrees to deduct from the wages of any employee who is a member of the Association a PEOPLE (Public Employees Organized to Promote Legislative Equality) deduction as provided for in written authorization. Such authorization must be executed by the employee and may be revoked by the employee at any time by giving written notice to both the Board and the Association. The Board agrees to remit any deductions made pursuant to the provision monthly to the OAPSE State Treasurer together with the itemized statement showing the name of each employee from whose pay such deductions have been made and the amount deducted during the period covered by the remittance.

The Board agrees not to honor any dues deduction authorization executed in favor of any other labor organizations.

The Association agrees to defend and indemnify the board, its officers and employees, and individual Board members against all claims, demands or causes of action based upon the deduction of dues under this article.

2-2 OAPSE LEAVE

The Board shall authorize a pool of up to six (6) days with pay on all even numbered years for use by members of the bargaining units who are elected to represent the union or who are chosen to represent the union in any official capacity for union business. Such leaves will be granted upon written application from the president of the local union made not less than five (5) work days in advance to the Superintendent. The parties recognize that jeopardy to the orderly and efficient operation of the school system due to employee absence for other reasons such as illness, personal leave and/or vacation, may result in leave under the provision being denied. Leave requested from this pool of days to attend the OAPSE Annual Convention and district meeting shall be granted.

Additionally, if requested by the president of the local union, employees may be granted leave with pay for union business provided the union reimburses the Board for employees' wages and such absence does not interfere with the efficient operation of any department or working unit. Such request must be submitted in writing no less than five (5) workdays in advance to the Superintendent. It is anticipated by the parties that these requests would generally be reserved for special circumstance.

ARTICLE III -- NEGOTIATIONS

3-1 REQUESTS FOR NEGOTIATIONS

If either party wishes to terminate, modify or negotiate a successor agreement, it must serve written notice of that intention upon the other party not more than 90 days nor less than 60 days prior to the expiration of this agreement. Upon timely service of such notice, the parties shall collectively bargain in good faith in an effort to reach a successor agreement. The parties may mutually agree to begin bargaining earlier. At the first session, the parties shall exchange proposals. Thereafter, additional items may be added only with the approval of the other party. However, by consent of both parties the rules and regulations governing the submission of proposals may be waived.

3-2 NEGOTIATING TEAMS

Each negotiating team shall consist of no more than five (5) persons including consultants. All negotiations shall be conducted exclusively between said teams. The teams may call upon professional and/or lay consultants to participate or assist in negotiations. Negotiations shall take place during normal hours of operation and employees shall suffer no loss of pay for time spent negotiating a successor agreement.

3-3 NEGOTIATING MEETINGS

- 1. Time and date of negotiation meetings shall be mutually agreed upon and until negotiations are concluded, either party may require at each meeting a decision on the date and time of a subsequent meeting.
- 2. Either party may recess for caucuses of reasonable length at any time.
- 3. During periods of caucus, either party may consult with professional and lay persons (consultants) to consider and make suggestions concerning matters under discussion. In this informal atmosphere, either party may invite the other to listen and participate in the discussion. The expense of such consultant shall be borne by the party requesting them at the caucus meeting.
- 4. All meetings will be conducted in closed session.
- 5. All meetings shall be held in good faith.
- 6. Negotiations shall continue until at least 45 days prior to the expiration of the Agreement before either party may declare an impasse. In the event an impasse is declared, the parties shall obtain a federal mediator from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service. The assigned commissioner shall have full authority to set and conduct meetings between the two parties, but shall not have the authority to bind either of the parties to an agreement.

This mediation procedure described herein shall supersede the procedures described in 4117.14 and shall be deemed an exclusive alternate dispute resolution process between the

two parties during negotiations.

8. Additional meetings can be held at any time, upon the mutual agreement of both parties.

3-4 AD HOC COMMITTEES

The parties may appoint ad hoc, joint committees chosen from the regular negotiation team members, to study and develop recommendations on matters under consideration. Committee findings shall be reported to both parties within the time limit specified by the parties when they set up the committee.

3-5 TENTATIVE AGREEMENT

Negotiation items that are reduced to writing and initialed by representatives of each party shall constitute tentative agreements. Tentative agreements may be revised prior to ratification only upon mutual agreement of both parties.

3-6 RATIFICATION

If consensus is reached on those matters being negotiated, the understanding of the negotiating parties shall be reduced to writing and submitted to the membership of the Association for ratification. If ratified, said written memorandum of understanding between the parties shall then be submitted to the Board for its approval. If approved, in accordance with the provisions of this section, the agreement shall be signed by both parties and shall become part of the official minutes of the Board, upon formal resolution by the Board.

This agreement shall not discriminate against any member of the staff regardless of membership or non-membership in the Association.

ARTICLE IV -- GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

4-1 DEFINITION

- A. Grievance A claim by an employee, by a group of employees, or by the Association of an alleged violation, a misapplication or misinterpretation of this agreement. The term "grievance" shall not apply to any matter for which (l) the method of review is prescribed by law, or (2) the Board of Education is without authority to act.
- B. Employee Any person covered hereunder and employed by the Board to perform services, either full or part-time.
- C. Grievant The employee or employees filing the grievance.

- D. Days Days exclusive of Saturday, Sunday, calamity day(s), or official holiday.
- E. Immediate Administrator That employee possessing that degree of administrative authority next in rank above the grievant.
- F. Parties of Interest Any person or group of persons involved in the processing of the grievance.

4-2 GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1. A grievant, and his/her immediate supervisor, must appear on his/her own behalf and may be represented at any and all levels of the grievance procedure.
- 2. No reprisals of any kind shall be taken by any participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation.
- 3. All decisions rendered at all levels of the procedure shall be in writing setting forth the decision and the reasons therefore, and shall be transmitted promptly to all parties in interest.
- 4. Forms for filing grievances shall be made available upon request so as to facilitate operation of the procedure.
- 5. All meetings and hearings shall be conducted in private.
- 6. Grievances should be processed in a manner which does not interfere with the normal operation of the schools.
- 7. Grievances and related information shall be kept outside of the employee's personnel files.

4-3 TIME LIMITS

- 1. The number of days indicated at each step is considered a maximum. The time limits specified may, however, be extended by agreement of the parties to this contract.
- 2. If an employee does not file a grievance in writing within twenty (20) days after he/she knows or should have known of the act or conditions on which the grievance is based, then the grievance shall be considered waived.
- 3. If a decision on a grievance is not appealed within the time limits specified at any step of the procedure, the grievance will be deemed settled on the basis of the disposition at that step and further appeal shall be barred.
- 4. Failure to communicate, at any step of these procedures, the decision of a grievance within the specified time limits shall permit the grievant to proceed to the next step.

- 5. All notices of hearings and dispositions of grievances shall be dated and hand delivered to the grievant.
- 6. In the event a grievance is filed after May 15 of a school year and strict adherence to the time limits may result in hardship to any party, all parties shall use their best efforts to process such grievance prior to the end of the school year or as soon thereafter as possible.

4-4 PROCEDURE

<u>Step I</u>

The grievant shall initiate one or a series of informal, unrecorded discussions with his/her immediate supervisor to attempt to resolve the problem informally.

<u>Step II</u>

The grievant shall present a formal claim by submitting a completed Grievance Report Form (the time limits to file a grievance are stated in section 4-3 [2]), a copy of which is in the attachments. The form shall show the date of the occurrence, a statement of the nature of the grievance and the provisions of the contract allegedly violated, and the relief sought. The form shall be submitted by the grievant to the immediate supervisor and to the local president. Within ten (10) days of receipt of the form, the immediate supervisor shall meet with the grievant in an effort to resolve the grievance. The employee may be represented by the local president, or the local president's designee, at the option of the local president. If the grievance is of a nature that it's resolution affects more than one employee, or out of the realm of responsibility of the immediate supervisor the grievant and/or the association shall present the form to the Superintendent, rather than to his/her immediate supervisor.

Within ten (10) days of this meeting, the immediate supervisor, or the Superintendent, shall indicate in writing his/her disposition of the grievance by forwarding his/her written response to the grievant, with copies to all persons in attendance at the Step II meeting.

The immediate supervisor, or the Superintendent shall have the right to be represented at the Step II meeting.

Step III

If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance in Step II, the grievant shall complete Form, Step III, and submit it to the Superintendent within ten (10) days of the receipt of the disposition at Step II. Within ten (10) days of receipt of the form, Step III, the Superintendent or, at the Superintendent's option, the Superintendent's designated representative, shall meet with the grievant and the local president, or the local president's designee. Within ten (10) days of this meeting, the Superintendent or the superintendent's designee shall indicate in writing the disposition of the grievance and forward it to the grievant, with copies to all persons in attendance at the Step III meeting.

Step IV

- A. If the grievance is not resolved at Step III, the Association based upon the facts presented has the right to decide whether to arbitrate the grievance. Within ten (10) days from the date of the final written disposition on a grievance from Step III, the union shall notify the superintendent in writing of its intent to seek arbitration over the unresolved grievance. In the event the grievance is not referred to arbitration within the time limits prescribed, the grievance shall be resolved based on the Step III reply.
- B. The Board and Association shall immediately thereafter select an arbitrator to hear the dispute. The arbitrator shall be selected in the following manner: The Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) shall be requested to submit a panel list of ten (10) arbitrators. The parties shall alternately strike the names of the arbitrators until only one (1) name remains. A toss of the coin shall determine who strikes the first name. Each party may twice reject the list and request another list from FMCS. The arbitration hearing shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of FMCS. The arbitrator shall be requested to render a decision and award within thirty (30) days following the hearing or submission of final briefs.
- C. The arbitrator will be notified of his/her selection by a joint letter from the Association and the Superintendent requesting that he/she set a time and place for the hearing, subject to the approval of the representatives of the Association and the Superintendent.

4-5 POWERS OF ARBITRATOR

- 1. It shall be the function of the arbitrator, and he/she shall be empowered except as his/her powers are limited below, after due hearing to make a decision.
- 2. He/she shall have no power or authority to add to, subtract from, disregard or, in any manner, alter this agreement or to make any award requiring the commission of any act prohibited by law or make any award that itself is contrary to law or violates any of the terms of this agreement. No award will be retroactive to a date prior to filing of a grievance.
- 3. He/she shall have no power to establish salary schedules or change salary schedules or hear grievances on contract non-renewal.
- 4. He/she shall have no power to decide any question which, under this agreement, is solely within the responsibility of management to decide. In rendering decisions, an arbitrator shall give due regard to the responsibility of management, except as they may be conditioned by this agreement.
- 5. In the event that a case is appealed to an arbitrator on which he/she determines he/she has no power to rule, it shall be referred back to the local president, with a notification to the Superintendent, without decision or recommendation on its merits.

- 6. There shall be no appeal from an arbitrator's decision if it is within the scope of his/her authority as set forth above except as provided under the Ohio Arbitration Act. The decision shall be final and binding on employees involved in the grievance and on the Superintendent and Board of Education.
- 7. Any fees or expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne by the losing party. Any other expenses resulting from the arbitration shall be borne by the party incurring them, and neither party shall be responsible for the expense of witnesses, except where it is agreed that the hearing shall occur during a witness's regular hours of employment.

ARTICLE V – WORKING STATUS

5-1 JOB BID PROCEDURE

When a job opening exists, that position will be posted five (5) working days in a conspicuous place at the board office and in each school building. The building principal and Association representative will mutually designate the bulletin board to be used.

The job will be awarded to the person with the highest seniority within the classification who applies, provided the individual applying possesses the necessary skills required for that particular job within the classification. In the event two applicants have identical seniority, the job will be awarded to the person with the greatest seniority in the system having the necessary skills and work habits for the job, as defined by the administration. If the administration determines in good faith, that there is no qualified bidder having the necessary skills and work habits for the job from other classifications, then the administration can fill the position with someone from outside the bargaining unit.

When a classified employee voluntarily changes classification he or she will be placed on the salary step that is closest to the pay they are currently receiving. However, the new pay shall not exceed their present salary and upon entering a new classification their classification seniority will be at 0 experience.

When, by re-assignment by the Superintendent, a classified employee who involuntarily changes classification he/she shall be placed on the salary step of the new classification that is closest to the current pay of the employee. However, if the new rate of pay is less than the current rate of pay, the employee shall continue to receive their old rate of pay without modification until it is exceeded by the rate of pay to which the employee is entitled under the salary schedule in the new classification. Upon entering the new classification an employee who is in-voluntarily transferred shall have classification seniority at 0 experience.

Classification seniority shall be defined as the amount of time employed in a given classification. System seniority shall be defined as the time employed from the original date of hire into the system. In cases of identical system seniority, the order shall be determined by original application date. Classifications for the purpose of this section are as follows:

Aide
Bus Driver
Secretarial/Case Manager
Assistant cook, Cashier, Lunchroom Worker

Head Cook Maintenance Custodial Food Service Coordinator

Vacancies, which occur after the school year ends, for positions which begin on or before the upcoming school year, will be consider emergencies and notification will be provided to all classified employees.

5-2 EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE

Employees shall not be suspended and/or disciplined without compliance with the progressive discipline procedure set forth below; all discipline must be for "just cause:"

- 1. 1st offense oral reprimand which will be noted in the employee's personnel file. After twenty-four (24) months from the date of the offense, during which time no other disciplinary actions were implemented, the first offense shall not be considered in further disciplinary action.
- 2. 2nd offense a written reprimand shall be placed in the employee's personnel file. After twenty-four (24) months from the date of a written reprimand, during which time no other disciplinary action is implemented, the written reprimand shall not be considered in further disciplinary matters.
- 3rd offense suspension without pay, the length of which, i.e., the number of work days, shall be determined by the Superintendent. If no further disciplinary actions are implemented within twenty-four (24) months after a suspension without pay, the suspension without pay shall not be considered in further disciplinary matters.
- 4. Termination termination proceedings may be initiated, at any time, if an employee's actions are deemed serious enough for termination.
- 5. An employee will receive at least three (3) days prior written notice of a disciplinary hearing date, and the notice shall include all charges. The employee will have the right to union representation at any stage of a disciplinary hearing.

Based upon the severity of the situation, disciplinary action may warrant deviation from the procedural order.

5-3 WORKDAYS

All classified employees are considered nine (9) month positions with a minimum of 185 workdays, with the exception of custodians, food service coordinator, and secretaries.

5-4 BREAKS

All eight (8) hour employees shall be permitted a fifteen (15) minute paid break each morning and afternoon of each regular working day. All seven (7) hour employees shall be permitted one fifteen (15) minute paid break each regular work day. The immediate supervisor and/or building principal will determine when the 15-minute breaks will be taken.

5-5 EIGHT-HOUR WORK DAY

- 1. All shifts shall work eight (8) hours; exclusive of lunch.
- 2. An eight (8) hour workday consists of eight (8) hours of work, including two (2) 15-minute paid breaks.

5-5.1 LUNCH BREAKS

- 1. All eight-hour employees must take a lunch break as close to mid-range of their shift as possible unless mutually agreed upon between the employee and their building principal.
- 2. Employees working less than eight hours, who qualify for lunch, will take their lunch at a time mutually agreed upon between the employee and their building principal.

5-6 MILEAGE ALLOWANCE

Employees required to use private transportation to perform their assigned duties after initially reporting to work will be paid a mileage allowance at the rate allowed by the Internal Revenue Service, by current publication.

5-7 UNPAID DAYS

In any school year in which an employee covered hereunder is scheduled to work more than two hundred sixty (260) days, the days in excess of two hundred sixty (260) shall be unpaid absence days. Any unpaid days must be taken when school is not in session.

5-8 CALAMITY DAYS

Custodians will report for work as normal during all calamity days at one and one half times their regular rate of pay.

Secretaries will report for work as normal during all calamity days and two-hour delay days at their normal rate of pay.

5-9 SENIORITY

a) System seniority shall be determined by date of hire, classification seniority shall be determined by first date on the job.

- b) Classified personnel who switch classification, i.e., bus driver to custodian, shall not lose previous classification seniority.
- c) Simultaneous seniority may be earned if a classified person works two classified positions concurrently, i.e., a custodian who also drives a bus shall earn a year's seniority in each classification.
- d) Concurrent employment shall count only as one year of system seniority.

5-10 DEDUCT DAY

In the event an employee must be absent for other than those reasons stated in the collective bargaining agreement, the employee may be allowed days without pay, at the sole discretion of the superintendent.

5-11 SCHOOL CALENDAR

- A. Subject to Sections D and E of this Article, the school calendar shall be in accordance with the work day and work year provisions of this agreement.
- B. A calendar committee, comprised of the superintendent, curriculum director, members of the CEA, and the Association president, or designee, will meet to develop a calendar for the ensuing school year.
- C. The superintendent will tender a calendar recommended by the calendar committee to the Board. The Board maintains sole authority to approve the school calendar.
- D. Unless a change in the calendar is necessary to comply with Article 5, Section 11, Item E, once the calendar is approved, there will be no change in the calendar without prior approval from the Association executive committee per the Superintendent's request. The Superintendent will make the request through the Association president.
- E. Make-up days and hours will be completed as follows:
 - 1. The first five (5) calamity days of the school year will not be made up. Beginning with the sixth calamity day, all days will be made up by the students and employees.
 - 2. The following options may be used as make-up days and hours in the following order if possible:

a. The next three (3) calamity days will be made up using electronic days/blizzard bags (section 3313.88 of the Ohio Revised Code) and as per board policy.

- b. Thursday prior to Easter
- c. Monday after Easter
- D. Presidents' Day

These dates are subject to change by mutual agreement of the parties.

5-12 PERSONAL CELL PHONE USE

Policy 7530.01 prohibits the BOARD from issuing cellular phones to its employees. However, custodians, the food service director, and bus drivers must possess their own personal cellular phone as a condition of employment. Such employees will be given an annual allowance of \$300.00.

The allowance for classified employee's use of their personal cell phones will be paid quarterly by the end of the following months, September, December, March, and June.

Dispensing your cellular phone number will be at your own discretion. Please phone Superintendent's secretary with your cell phone number by August 15th.

ARTICLE VI – LAYOFF AND RECALL, BUMPING RIGHTS

6-1 LAYOFF AND RECALL, BUMPING RIGHTS

In the event it becomes necessary to reduce the number of employees in the work force, the procedure used will be as follows:

Layoffs shall occur by classification with the person having the least amount of seniority within the classification being laid off first and any additional employees laid off in ascending order of seniority within the classification.

In the event it becomes necessary to abolish a position, the person so displaced shall have the right to bump any other position held by a person with less seniority within the same classification. A person displaced by bumping may only bump a person with lesser seniority within the classification.

Employees who are displaced by layoff who held a regular contracted position in another classification may exercise their seniority rights and return to their most recent former classification if there is an employee in that classification with less seniority. Upon re-entry into a former classification, the employee shall assume the duties of the displaced employee, acquire restored seniority rights and be placed on the highest salary step previously earned in the former classification.

Persons laid off or bumped out of a classification shall be placed on a recall list for a period of twenty-four (24) months. No person may be hired until all persons laid off within a classification are recalled.

Any job opening must first be offered to persons on the recall list in order of their seniority. The Board shall not contract out, or sub-contract out, any work which was previously performed by an employee that is currently on the recall list.

Employees whose contracts have been suspended will lose all rights including restoration if he/she:

- a. resigns, or
- b. fails to return to work after being offered a position for which they are qualified. Persons laid off and returning to work within twenty-four (24) months of the layoff shall retain their seniority from their original date of hire.

An employee may accept a layoff and not bump, without any penalty of unemployment benefits.

The classifications are identical to the Job Bid Procedure classifications and are as follows:

Aide Bus Driver Secretarial/Case Manager Assistant Cook, Cashier, Lunchroom Worker Head Cook Maintenance Custodial

ARTICLE VII – LEAVES

7-1 LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- a) In accordance with the provisions of Revised Code 3319.13, the Board shall grant a leave of absence for a period not exceeding two (2) successive school years where illness or other disability is the reason for the request. This provision is not intended to limit other requirements of Section 3319.13 as they affect bargaining unit employees.
- b) The Board shall continue to carry, on payroll records, all employees whose sick leave accumulation has expired, provided they are on an approved leave of absence as a result of illness or other disability for the purpose of continued insurance coverage(s) which the employee may elect to maintain by making monthly payments in the amount of the monthly premium for medical, dental, and/or life insurance.

7-2 SICK LEAVE

- 1. As provided hereinafter, sick leave may be used by employees for absence due to personal illness, medical appointments, complications due to pregnancy, the birth of a child, injury, exposure to contagious disease which could be communicated to others, and for absence due to illness, or injury in the employee's immediate family. Immediate family shall include spouse, minor children, minor stepchildren, or anyone living in the same household who is related by blood or adoption.
- 2. There shall be one-and-one quarter (1¼) days of sick leave per month, a total of fifteen (15) days per contract year, for employees. The sick leave shall be cumulative to a total of two hundred forty days (240 days). When necessary, each employee shall be credited with five (5) days of sick leave in advance. Sick leave beyond the five (5) days advanced will not be credited until the advance is made up and further sick leave earned.
- 3. An employee may use a part or all of the accumulated sick leave up to two hundred forty (240) days in ¼ day increments. After any period of approved absence as described in the Sick Leave Policy, the leave can again be accumulated to the maximum of two hundred forty (240) days of regular attendance.
- 4. A maximum of five (5) days of accumulated sick leave may be used without loss of pay for a death in the immediate family. Immediate family shall be interpreted to include spouse, parents

of employee or spouse, children and their wives or husbands, grandparents, grandchildren, stepchildren, siblings or anyone living in the same household who is related by blood or adoption. The Superintendent may approve additional uses of sick leave where there are special circumstances, provided that sick leave may only be used for personal injury or illness or for family injury, illness, or death.

- 5. A maximum of one (1) day of accumulated sick leave may be used without loss of pay for a death of a brother/sister-in-law, aunts, or uncles.
- 6. Employees may transfer accumulated but unused sick leave from the State of Ohio, or any political sub-division thereof, as provided by law. Sick leave may not accumulate beyond two hundred forty (240) days.
- 7. Employees may be required to obtain a doctor's note after five (5) consecutive sick days.
- 8. All efforts should be made to schedule routine, non-emergency doctor's appointments during non-working hours.
- 9. Falsification of sick leave is grounds for termination.

The salary of an employee shall be reduced where the employee is absent on days which are not covered by paid leave.

7-3 PERSONAL LEAVE

Each employee shall be entitled to the use of three (3) non-accumulating days of paid personal leave each school year. The use of personal leave shall be unrestricted except:

- 1) Personal leave shall not be used for absences where sick leave can be used, except personal leave can be used where sick leave has been exhausted,
- 2) Personal leave shall not be used on days of district meetings, on the first or last week during each school year that pupils are in attendance, and on the work day immediately preceding or following a holiday or a school vacation, except with the approval of the Superintendent two weeks prior to the requested leave.
- 3) A request for personal leave may be denied where substitutes are not available.
- 4) Except in the case of emergencies, employees shall request the use of personal leave in writing as early as possible, and such requests shall be made at least three work days in advance of the day on which the use of personal leave is requested.
- 5) Employees shall be notified of the approval or disapproval of their requests for the use of personal leave as soon as possible after such requests are made.

- 6) All personal leave days shall be taken in one-quarter (1/4), one-half (1/2) or one (1) whole day increments.
- 7) Part-time employees who are assigned to two or more jobs (each job being less than four hours) will be awarded personal leave so that the time will not be interrupted (i.e. AM bus route, lunchroom shift, PM bus route).
- 8) Personal leave is defined as any business which must be conducted at a time in conflict with the regular school day, or an emergency over which the classified staff member has no control and which requires immediate attention. The Board and the Association trust that the classified staff member will use this personal leave privilege for its intended purpose as defined immediately above.
- 9) Employees who are regularly scheduled to work six or more hours per day will be paid for unused personal leave at the rate of two hundred dollars (\$200.00) per day. Employees who are regularly scheduled to work less than six hours per day will be paid for unused personal leave at the rate of one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150.00) per day.

7-4 ASSAULT LEAVE

Any service-connected case of physical assault on a member of the classified staff occurring on school property or during a school sponsored function shall be reported immediately to the principal or other administrator in charge who shall initiate an investigation of the incident not later than twenty-four (24) hours after receipt of the report. When such an assault results in absence from duty for medical reasons, such absence shall be at no loss in pay and shall not be chargeable to leave, to a maximum of fifteen (15) days per member each school year. Medical verification shall be furnished to the Superintendent for all such absences. The board shall have the right to require a medical examination by a physician of its choice at the board's expense.

Absences due to court appearances resulting from an assault shall be chargeable to assault leave.

If a member is required to be absent from school because of court appearances resulting from an assault, and he/she requires assault leave days exceeding fifteen (15) during that school year, additional days equivalent to the number of days used for court appearances shall be granted to that member.

The member assaulted agrees to cooperate fully with police and the administration on any investigation of an alleged assault upon the member, if the member applies to use assault leave.

7-5 WORKER'S COMPENSATION LEAVE

If the basis for an approved leave of absence is the result of an allowed worker's compensation claim in which the Board was the employer, the Board will continue to pay its portion of the medical, life, and dental insurance premiums for the injured employee in accordance with other sections of this agreement during the period of such absence, subject to the following:

- 1. such period of Board's share of paid insurance premiums during the leave of absence shall not exceed six (6) months, paid in accordance with current payments to the insurance provider.
- 2. the employee does not elect to take retirement, including disability, through the School Employees Retirement System (SERS), and
- 3. the employee will be granted the same medical, life, and dental coverage provided for in this agreement. The employee's premium contributions will be based upon the number of hours per day that the employee was regularly scheduled to work at the time of the allowable claim.

7-6 COURT LEAVE

An employee shall receive his/her regular daily rate of pay when the employee is subpoenaed for court (must be job related) or jury duty by the United States, the State of Ohio or a political subdivision. All compensation received for court or jury duty is to be remitted by the employee to the employer, unless such duty is performed totally outside of normal working hours. In the event court or jury duty involves more than one day, an employee shall be considered on "Court Leave" during the employee's normal hours of work each day, regardless of when each court session begins or ends.

7-7 FMLA

The Family Medical Leave Act of 1993 shall not diminish the leave of absence rights and benefits under this Agreement where it provides greater rights and benefits than the Family Medical Leave Act.

The parties to this agreement will have whatever rights, duties, discretion, and responsibilities as are set forth in the family medical leave act as is or may be amended, which are summarized below:

1. Employees are eligible for FMLA leave if they have worked for the board for at least 12 months and for 1,250 hours during the 12 months immediately preceding any requested leave. Eligible employees may request up to 12 weeks of unpaid FMLA leave during any continuous 12-month period for the following reasons:

(a) to care for the employee's child after birth or placement for adoption or foster care;

(b) to care for the employee's spouse, child, or parent with a serious health condition;

(c) for any qualifying exigency, as defined by the Secretary of Labor, arising out of the fact that a spouse, son, daughter, or parent of the employee is on active duty (or has been notified of an impending call or order to active duty) in the armed forces (including the National Guard or Reserves) in support of a contingency operation, including any deployment to a foreign country; or

(d) for a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform his or her job. Eligible employees may request up to 26 weeks of unpaid FMLA leave during any single 12-month period to care for a spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next of kin who is a member or former member of the armed forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness, within five years of such member's or former member's active military service.

For purposes of this policy, a "single 12-month period" as used in the preceding sentence shall commence on the first day the eligible employee takes military family leave.

- 2. To the extent that provisions of the FMLA are covered by paid leave provisions of this agreement, the twelve (12) weeks of leave and benefit coverage to which an employee is entitled under the FMLA will run concurrently with existing paid leave benefits.
- 3. Intermittent leave under the FMLA may only be taken by the half-day or full-day when medically necessary. The employee will attempt to schedule medical procedures so as not to interrupt their work unnecessarily.
- 4. The Board will continue to pay the Board's contribution to the current medical insurance plan for the employee while they are on leave under FMLA.
- 5. The Board will return the employee taking leave under FMLA to the same or similar position he/she occupied prior to the leave.

ARTICLE VIII – CLASSIFICATION AGREEMENTS

8-1 TRANSPORTATION

8-1.1 Regular Routes

- 1. Bus drivers will be paid for all driving time, while they are with their vehicles, and for time supervising or chaperoning students.
- 2. Regular bus routes will be paid at three (3) hours per day. This includes one hour in the A.M. and one hour in the P.M., allowing for one hour per day for (but not limited to) the bus pre-check inspection, warm up and de-icing time, fueling time, spot checking after each daily route, clean up time, garage travel time, breakdown time, lay over time between routes, on-call time, and etc.

In the event that a driver's regular route takes longer than one hour as demonstrated by the morning departure time, first pick up time, and drop off at CES OR the afternoon pick up at CES, last drop off time, and return time, the driver shall be compensated at increments of 15 minutes for additional time. If the driver has an additional route after the morning or before the afternoon route that can absorb this additional time, then additional compensation will not occur (i.e. a driver's morning route takes one hour and five minutes, but they drive a special education route that is compensated for an hour after their morning route that only takes 45 minutes). Drivers should keep track of the time for the morning and afternoon routes for a period of three weeks to determine this need. Once a driver has demonstrated consistent increases in time, the district will adjust the driver' pay retroactively to original date of increased driving time.

- 3. Special bus routes, including, but not limited to, the UVCC route, shall be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours per day, i.e., one (1) hour in the morning and one (1) hour in the afternoon. Drivers of these routes shall be paid their hourly rate commensurate with their placement on the salary schedule.
- 4. A bus driver will be paid the hourly rate allotted for a regular or specialty route when the driver has not been notified that the route was unnecessary and runs the route anyway.
- 5. At the beginning of each school year bus drivers shall choose regular and specialty routes on the basis of classification seniority.
- 6. A \$200 bonus shall be paid annually to each driver for the cleaning of the bus interior and washing/waxing the bus exterior, payroll forms must be turned in no later than July 15th. Payments shall be received on or about August 15, of each year of the agreement. The rate paid to the bus drivers for cleaning buses shall be the rate that is in effect when the payment is made.
- 7. \$125 shall be paid annually to each bus driver when the engine block heater is plugged into a driver owned, functional electrical outlet, reimbursement forms must be turned in no later than June 15th. Payment shall be received on or about June 30th of each year of the agreement.
- 8. Special Needs Van Driver

Throughout this negotiated agreement, bus driver and van driver is synonymous in rights and responsibilities, except for daily pre- and post- trip times. A van driver will be allowed 30 minutes per day to their total weekly hours for (not limited to) inspections, fueling, etc.

8-1.2 Transportation Coordinator

The Superintendent may appoint a transportation coordinator who will coordinate the activities of busing students to and from school, extracurricular activities, and curricular events; supervision of bus drivers and their professional development, including the scheduling and assignment of personnel within the transportation department and all other duties as described in the job description.

8-1.3 Extra-Curricular/Field Trips

- 1. The rate for bus drivers for extra-curricular trips will be at 90% of step zero (0) of the hourly rate for a minimum of two hours per trip. Should the trip need to be an overnight trip, the driver shall not be paid for eight hours sleeping time, for the duration of this agreement.
- 2. All extra-curricular trips shall be divided equally among all regular bus drivers who choose to take trips with the most senior driver choosing first. After the trip sheet has gone through the seniority list once and trips remain, the list shall go through the seniority list a second time before the trips are offered to a substitute bus driver.
- 3. However, should a driver decide not to take a trip(s), it(they) shall be offered to regular drivers on a rotating basis, starting with the most senior driver and descending down the list, one trip at a time.
- 4. Bus drivers shall not be sent home while on extra-curricular trips unless the driver and transportation coordinator mutually agree upon it, bus drivers shall remain with the group unless they leave for meal purposes. This practice will:
 - a. save fuel,
 - b. save on wear and tear on the busses,
 - c. reduce the number of miles the busses are in service which will also reduce the likelihood they are in an accident, and
 - d. provide that the busses are in place for student should inclement weather begin.
- 5. The transportation coordinator may select an available driver and disregard the rotation when an emergency exists.
- 6. In the event this trip is cancelled without prior notification being given to the driver, and the driver shows up for the trip, such driver will be paid one (l) hour at the field trip rate.
- 7. Regular drivers who are unable to drive their extra-curricular trips shall follow seniority when finding a replacement before offering the trip to a sub driver.
- 8. If the extra-curricular/field trip consists of four or fewer students, qualified coaches or nonbargaining unit staff members may be assigned by the transportation supervisor to drive these trips. Such coach or non-bargaining unit staff member will be paid for their driving time only.

8-1.4 Substitute Bus Driving

When a sub driver is needed for a regular driver involving their specialty routes (including, but not limited to, the UVCC route) the route shall be offered to the other regular drivers on a seniority basis before offering the route to a sub driver (except in an emergency.)

8-1.5 CDL License

The Board shall reimburse the cost of maintaining the CDL for those bargaining unit employees who are required to possess such license in the performance of his/her position with the board. The Board shall pay any expenses incurred by the drivers to obtain recertification. This shall include advanced driver in-service classes, and criminal background checks (includes meals, mileage and registration fee).

8-1.6 Physicals

Whenever the Board requires an employee to submit to a physical examination, the employee will make arrangements with the physician of his/her choice. For those not on the school health insurance plan, upon submission of a proper physician statement, the Board will pay for the physical with a maximum cost of \$150. For those on the school health insurance plan, the board will pay for the physical with a maximum cost of \$150 minus any reimbursement from the school health insurance plan. Per Anthem, the physician's office will submit the claim to the insurance company for the employee. The employee must provide documentation to the Board office from the insurance company (Explanation of Benefits) and a statement from the physician's office.

8-1.7 Alcohol and Drug Testing

The Board policy (Appendix C) regarding the alcohol/drug testing procedures for bus drivers pursuant to the Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991 shall be made part of this Agreement. Employees shall receive a minimum of one (1) hour of pay at his/her regular hourly rate when selected for such test. Employee shall be compensated at their regular hourly rate for any additional time.

8-2 CUSTODIAL AND MAINTENANCE

Custodians (1st, 2nd, and 3rd shift) are considered twelve (12) month positions with a minimum of 260 workdays per school year. The Board will pay the cost of any required criminal background check.

8-2.1 CUSTODIAL MAINTENANCE COORDINATOR

The Superintendent may appoint a Custodial/Maintenance coordinator who will coordinate all activities of the custodial and maintenance departments. The Coordinator will assign duties, evaluate custodians, and manage the day-to-day operations of all custodial and maintenance staff. The Custodial/Maintenance coordinator will also conduct maintenance work for the district.

8-3 SECRETARIAL

For purposes of definition only, full-time building secretaries are considered ten (10) month positions with a minimum of 208 workdays per school year, with an eight (8) hour workday. The Board will pay the cost of any required criminal background check.

8-4 FOOD SERVICE

- 1. The Head Cook is responsible for all of the deliveries.
- 2. Food Service Coordinator
 - The Superintendent may appoint a food service coordinator, who will:
 - 1) coordinate all ordering and maintaining of the commodity program,
 - 2) set a common menu for all buildings,

- 3) help determine, with the building principal, hours work for all cafeteria workers,
- 4) meet all federal mandates for a nutrition school lunch program,
- 5) work with administration to determine free and reduced student/family eligibility,
- 6) all other duties needed to operate a coherent district-wide food service program.

The food service coordinator will NOT evaluate any employee.

The food service coordinator shall be compensated at an hourly rate for six (6) hours per day. The food service coordinator shall be contracted for two hundred and five (205) days per year. If the food service coordinator is also a head cook, the employee will be compensated on the food service coordinator salary schedule for six (6) hours per day (205 days per year) and on the head cook salary schedule for two (2) hours per day (185 days per year).

The food service coordinator will be placed on the salary scale at the same step that he/she occupies, if he/she is in a food service classification at the time of appointment. If the food service coordinator is not in a food service classification at the time of appointment, he/she will be placed at a step that reflects his/her relevant experience, as determined at the sole discretion of the superintendent.

The Food Service Coordinator must meet the current minimum requirements for food service directors as established by the United States Department of Agriculture from time to time.

At the beginning of each school year, the food service coordinator shall ask each lunchroom worker if they wish to work additional hours for an absent lunchroom worker before a substitute is called in. Additional hours shall be offered on a rotating basis to such lunchroom workers, provided that the working of such additional hours will not result in payment of overtime. When a lunchroom worker is absent, the next senior lunchroom worker shall work the absent lunchroom worker's job for the full day. This includes filling the complete time and role for that day. In the event a mistake is made in offering additional hours, the lunchroom worker (s) who should have been offered the opportunity will be offered the next opportunity (ies) until the lost opportunity is made up.

2. The Board will pay the cost of any required criminal background check.

8-5 EDUCATIONAL AIDE

- 1. The Board will pay the cost for certification renewal for educational aides.
- 2. This includes the cost of criminal background checks

ARTICLE IX – WAGES AND BENEFITS

9-1 PAID HOLIDAYS

Less-than-12 month employees shall receive the following days off with pay. Bus drivers shall receive holiday pay for all hours worked on a daily basis including the specialty routes (including, but not limited to, the UVCC route). A holiday must fall within the work year of the employee in order to be eligible for such compensation. For example, if an employee's work year ends prior to Memorial Day, he/she is not entitled to compensation for that holiday.

New Year's Day	Labor Day
Martin Luther King Day	Thanksgiving Day
Memorial Day	Christmas Day
Good Friday	President's Day

Twelve-month employees (those employees scheduled to work two hundred sixty (260) days per year) will receive the following days off with pay:

New Year's Day	Thanksgiving Day
Martin Luther King Day	Day after Thanksgiving
President's Day	Day before Christmas
Good Friday	Christmas
Memorial Day	Day after Christmas
Fourth of July	Day before New Year's Day
Labor Day	

In order to qualify for these holidays, the employee must have been on a paid status on the scheduled workday preceding and following the holiday. A school holiday falling on a Saturday will be celebrated on Friday and a school holiday falling on Sunday will be celebrated the next non-holiday workday.

9-2 OVERTIME

Opportunities for overtime/extra time (OT/ET) shall first be offered to contracted employees within the classification that the OT/ET exists on a continuing rotational basis. If an employee rejects the OT/ET they shall be moved to the bottom of the rotation; this is also the case once an employee accepts the OT/ET. All employees shall be paid time and one-half (1½) the employee's regular rate for all hours worked over forty (40) in one (1) week. Calculation for "hours worked" excludes sick, vacation, and personal days. All employees shall be paid two (2) times the employee's regular rate for all hours worked on Sundays and holidays. In the event that the employee's work week exceeds forty (40) hours as a result of working on Sundays and holidays, the total rate of pay will not exceed two (2) times the employee's regular rate. For employees with more than one rate of pay, when the forty-first hour is worked, a blended rate of pay will be paid. All overtime must be approved by the employee's direct supervisor in advance, unless an emergency situation occurs. This does not circumvent the rotation(s) of extra time, trips, events, etc.

When an employee is called in during non-scheduled working hours, that employee(s) shall be compensated a minimum of two (2) hours call-out pay.

9-3 SEVERANCE PAY

Employees with five (5) plus years of service with the Board at the time of their retirement from the Covington Schools or their death while an employee of the Covington Schools, shall receive payment based on the employee's rate of pay at resignation or death for one-fourth of the employee's accrued but unused sick leave up to a maximum of sixty (60) days. In the case of retirement such payment shall not be made at the time of an employee's resignation, but shall be made when the employee officially retires and presents proof of retirement from STRS, SERS, or PERS. Conversion of sick leave upon retirement shall eliminate all sick leave credit accrued by the employee. In the event of death while an employee, payment will not be made until a certified copy of the death certificate is filed with the board of education office. Payment will be made to the predetermined beneficiary or the employee's estate.

Only those employees whose effective date of retirement with the school employees' retirement system is no later than ninety (90) calendar days after their final day of paid service with the Covington Exempted Village Schools shall be eligible to be paid such severance pay.

9-4 VACATION SCHEDULE

After l year of completed service with the Board	10 days
After 4 years of completed service with the Board	15 days
After 9 years of completed service with the Board	20 days

All vacation days to be awarded on July1. An employee with less than 1 year of service on July 1 shall receive pro-rated vacation days based on the number of months employed (@ 0.83 days/month).

Twelve-month employees will be allowed to carry a maximum of five (5) days over to the next year only.

Employees shall be paid for all vacation earned up to their last day of employment with the board.

Requests for use of vacation shall be made to the Superintendent. The Superintendent may disapprove these requests if the use of vacation leave by the employee would interfere with the completion, on time, of school and school district work. Classified personnel employed on less than a twelve-month basis will not be granted vacation with pay.

9-5 ATTENDANCE INCENTIVE

An employee will be paid an attendance incentive provided the employee does not use any sick leave, dock days, in a semester or contract year. (For 12-month employees, a half-year will run from July through December or from January through June.)

Each semester or half-year:	
0 up to four (4) hours per day	\$100.00
Four (4) up to six (6) hours per day	\$150.00
Six (6) hours or more per day	\$200.00

If the employee does not use any sick leave or dock days the entire contract year, an additional attendance incentive will be paid.

0 up to four (4) hours per day bonus	\$ 50.00
Four (4) up to six (6) hours per day bonus	\$ 75.00
Six (6) hours or more per day bonus	\$100.00

To receive this attendance incentive, the employee must complete a form requesting consideration for the attendance incentive.

9-6 HOSPITALIZATION/SURGICAL/MAJOR MEDICAL

The Board shall provide a hospitalization, surgical, major medical insurance plan for each member of the classified staff who desires it and is eligible. The Board will provide a choice of two plans: a preferred provider option (PPO) and a high deductible health plan (HDHP)/Lumenos HSA Plan. For employees who work six (6) hours or more per day, and bus drivers who are regularly scheduled to work both a.m. and p.m. routes, the Board agrees to pay eighty-nine percent (89%) of the monthly premium cost for the HDHP in year one (1), eighty-eight percent (88%) of the premium in year two (2), and eighty-seven percent (87%) of the premium in year three (3) and eighty percent (80%) of the monthly premium cost for the PPO in years one (1), two (2), and three (3) except for:

- a. Employees of the Board who have coverage elsewhere, other than total individually purchased coverage, or coverage for their dependents only under survivor benefits; or
- b. If the employee's spouse has medical insurance offered at his/her place of employment, then said spouse is required to participate in that insurance plan. The employee's spouse is allowed to enroll in Covington's plan for secondary coverage. The employee's spouse must enroll in the medical insurance plan offered at his/her place of employment at his/her employer's next open enrollment period (the soonest open enrollment period after the execution of this Agreement). An employee's spouse is not required to enroll in the medical insurance plan offered at his/her place of employment if the spouse's employer pays less than 60% of the total cost of the medical insurance premiums.
- c. When both spouses are employees of this Board, they shall be enrolled for either family coverage or two (2) single plans depending if the couple have any dependents. The employee's share of the Board contribution will be calculated according to the schedule for other part-time employees, provided, however, that the hours for both

spouses will be combined to determine the percent of the employee's share of Board contribution. When both spouses are employees of the Board and their combined hours are fourteen (14) or more per day, the Board will pay 100% of the premium.

In the event that the annual premium of the PPO or HDHP increases by more than ten percent (10%) in any year of the negotiated agreement, employees will be responsible for fifty percent (50%) of the increase above ten percent (10%). Example: eighteen percent (18%) increase = employees are responsible for four percent (4%) of the increase.

The deductible for the PPO plan will be \$200/\$400. The out of pocket Maximum for the PPO will be \$2,000/\$4,000.

Employee contributions shall be made via payroll deduction.

Part-time classified personnel may acquire the same insurance protection by paying, in addition to the employee contribution, the pro-rated board contribution toward the premiums according to the following schedule:

For the HDHP:

Less than two (2) hours per day Two (2) hours up to four (4) hours per day Four (4) hours up to six (6) hours per day Six (6) hours and up per day Six (6) hours and up per day Six (6) hours and up per day

For the PPO:

Less than two (2) hours per day Two (2) hours up to four (4) hours per day Four (4) hours up to six (6) hours per day Six (6) hours and up per day Employee's share: 100% of total monthly premium 77.8% of total monthly premium 55.6% of total monthly premium 11.0% of total monthly premium in 2020-21 12.0% of total monthly premium in 2021-22 13.0% of total monthly premium in 2022-23

Employee's share: 100% of total monthly premium 78.3% of total monthly premium 56.5% of total monthly premium 20% of total monthly premium

The Board agrees to contribute to the HSA fifteen hundred dollars (\$1,500) for year one (1) and twelve-hundred and fifty dollars (\$1,250) for years two (2) and three (3) for single coverage and three thousand dollars (\$3,000) for year one (1) and twenty-five hundred dollars (\$2,500) for years two (2) and three (3) for employee plus one coverage, employee plus children coverage or family coverage for the duration of this Agreement. The Board's contribution to the HSA will be prorated for employees working less than six (6) hours per day. If an employee who received a contribution to his/her HSA resigns or is terminated for good and just cause prior to the last day of the school year, he/she shall be required to reimburse the Board the pro-rated amount.

When an employee's "regular" daily hours differ during the week, those hours will be averaged on a weekly five (5) day basis to determine the insurance category into which they will fall.

9-7 DENTAL INSURANCE

The Board shall provide a dental insurance plan for each member of the classified staff who desires it and is eligible. The Board's share will be 90% and the employees' share will be 10%

Part-time classified staff members may acquire the same dental protection by paying the pro-rated premiums as set forth under Article IX (9-6).

When both spouses are employees of this Board, they shall be enrolled for either family coverage or two (2) single plans depending if the couple have any dependents. The employee's share of the Board contribution will be calculated according to the schedule for other part-time employees, provided, however, that the hours for both spouses, will be combined to determine the percent of the employee's share of Board contribution. When both spouses are employees of this Board and their combined hours are fourteen (14) or more per day, the board will pay 100% of the premium.

Insurance eligibility for all existing double spouse/employee situations will be unchanged by the new language, and will continue to be determined by the previous contract language.

9-8 VISION INSURANCE

The Board shall provide a vision insurance plan for each of the classified staff who desires it and is eligible. When both spouses are employees of this Board, they shall be enrolled for either family coverage or two (2) single plans depending if the couple have any dependents. The Board's share will be 90% and the employees will be 10%. Part-time staff members may acquire the same vision protection by paying the prorated premiums as set forth within this agreement.

9-9 LIFE INSURANCE

The Board shall select and pay premiums for a term life insurance policy with face value of \$40,000 for all members of the classified staff.

9-10 OPT OUT OF MEDICAL INSURANCE

Four or More Hours Per Day:

Family:	\$1	,500.00
Single:	\$	750.00

Less Than Four Hours Per Day:

Family:	\$ 900.00
Single:	\$ 450.00

9-11 WAGES

1. Wages shall be as set forth in the Appendix A attached hereto and made a part hereof.

- 2. An employee who substitutes during his/her regular work hours in a classification different from his/her normal classification, shall be paid the greater of his/her regular hourly rate or the hourly rate to which he/she is entitled in the classification in which he/she is substituting. An employee who substitutes outside of his/her classification, outside his/her normal working hours, will receive the substitute rate of pay. An employee who substitutes within his/her classification will receive his/her normal hourly rate.
- 3. In this case the employee must currently possess the qualifications, including any licenses or permits required for the higher rated job classification.
- 4. The Board will use the salary reduction method to calculate employee's retirement and taxes.
- Starting and ending times of all classified employees shall be worked as listed in Appendix C. Any change of an employee's hours will be communicated to the employee in writing. This shall not constitute a change in total hours, days, or shift.
- 6. To advance on the salary schedule an employee must be on paid status for at least 2/3 (two-thirds) of the days of his classification's work year.

9-12 SALARY

Salary increases for classified employees shall be as follows:

2020-2021	0.0% increase on base salary and appropriate step increase
2021-2022	1.0% increase on base salary and appropriate step increase
2022-2023	2.0% increase on base salary and appropriate step increase

9-13 PAYDAY PROCEDURE

- A. Annual salaries for all employees will be distributed in twenty-four (24) equal installments paid on the 10th and 25th of each month through direct deposit.
- B. If the 10th or 25th is on the weekend or banking holiday, direct deposit will be made on the1st business day prior to that date.

9-14 DIRECT DEPOSIT

Wages for all employees will be determined through negotiations. All employees will receive compensation through direct deposit. If an employee's bank does not have electronic deposit as a service to the employee, the employee will be paid by a payroll check.

9-15 SUPPLEMENTAL POSITIONS

- a. This section applies to each classified employee who holds a supplemental position(s).
- b. Classified employees shall be paid at an hourly rate for supplemental positions. The hourly rate for supplemental positions shall be equivalent to the then-current minimum wage in

Ohio.

- c. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall notify each employee in writing of the maximum number of minutes/hours per week which the employee is permitted to work at his/her supplemental position. Such notification shall be provided prior to the time in which the employee is to commence his/her supplemental duties. An employee is strictly prohibited from working at his/her supplemental position in excess of the minutes/hours per week prescribed in the notification. Employees expressly acknowledge and agree that the Board does not know or have any reason to believe that any classified employee is working in excess of the minutes/hours set forth in the notification.
- d. If an employee holding a supplemental position works more than forty (40) hours in a workweek, he/she shall be compensated at one and one-half times the weighted average of all non-overtime rates applied during that workweek. In other words, his/her total earnings, excluding paid sick and personal days, shall be computed to include his/her compensation during the workweek from all such rates, and then shall be divided by the total number of hours worked at all jobs.
- e. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall provide each employee with individual time sheets prior to the time in which the employee is to commence his/her supplemental duties. The employee must submit individual time sheets detailing the minutes/hours worked, including the exact dates and times which the work was performed, to the Treasurer or his/her designee on a bi-weekly basis.

Should an employee's total earnings for his/her supplemental position be lower than the amount depicted on the Extracurricular Salary Schedule (Addendum B to the Master Agreement between the Board of Education and the Covington Education Association), the Board shall adjust the hourly rate for the supplemental position for the last pay so that the total of the employee's straight-time and overtime earnings for his/her supplemental position equal the amount depicted for the supplemental position on the Extracurricular Salary Schedule.

9-16 PUBLIC SCHOOL WORKS TRAINING

All employees will be compensated for three hours of public school works training per year. This payment will be made on May 25th of each school year.

9-17 COURSEWORK REIMBURSEMENT

The Board shall budget \$7,000 per school year for the purpose of assisting those Association members who take college courses as part of a degree program, or for such other courses or programs approved by the Superintendent. Such courses must be relevant to the employees' current job responsibilities or beneficial to the operation of the district, as determined by the Superintendent. To be eligible for reimbursement, employees must receive approval from the Superintendent, before classes begin, and must receive a grade of "B-" or better in the course. Reimbursement will be made by the second Friday in December. An official transcript is due by October 15th of the reimbursement year. The employee must be employed at CEVSD at the time of

reimbursement. Reimbursement will not exceed the actual tuition expenses of an employee. Any portion of this fund not used in a school year, will not carry over to the following year. The amount in the coursework reimbursement program will be divided among all eligible employees on a proportional basis.

ARTICLE X – GENERAL PROVISIONS

10-1 DISCRIMINATION AND COERCION

There shall be no discrimination or intimidation by the Board or the Association against any employee as a result of, or because of, such employee's race, color, creed, sex, age, national origin, or membership or non-membership in the Association.

10-2 CONFLICT WITH THE LAW

If during the term of this agreement, any provision is determined invalid or inoperable due to its conflict with applicable state or federal law, or valid rule or regulation adopted or repealed by a state or federal agency, the parties agree to meet to negotiate a lawful alternate provision, if possible, under the law relative to the affected provision. Such meeting shall take place within thirty (30) days following a written request by either party. All provisions of this Agreement that are not affected by the conflict shall remain in full force and effect.

10-3 UNDERSTANDINGS

This agreement embodies all of the understandings between the parties and there are no understandings between the parties other than those contained in this agreement. All provisions of Ohio law, except those that specifically conflict with a provision of this agreement, are included in this agreement by reference.

10-4 UNION ORIENTATION

The local president, or designee, shall be notified via email as soon as a new employee is hired into the bargaining unit. Newly hired employees shall attend a fifteen (15) minute paid orientation with the local president, or designee. This meeting shall take place within the first week after the new employee is hired. The meeting shall take place without the presence of the administration.

10-5 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The Association recognizes the Board as the locally elected body charged with the establishment of policy for public education in the Covington Exempted Village School District and as the employer of all personnel of the district. The Association further recognizes that the Board will have the responsibility for the management and control of all the schools in the district and is delegated with the responsibility of making reasonable rules and regulations by which the district will be governed. The Association further recognizes that the Board has authority in matters concerning supervision, evaluation, suspension with just cause, discipline with just cause, layoff, termination with just cause, and hiring, and transfer/changes in assignment of all employees except as limited by this contract.

10-6 DURATION AGREEMENT

- 1. This Agreement shall not prevent the Board and the Association from negotiating on any subject or matter if both parties are mutually agreeable to do so prior to the expiration of the contract.
- 2. This contract shall be in effect from July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2023.

In WITNESS HEREOF, the parties set their hands this 23 day of July, 2020.

For: Covington Exempted Village School District Board of Education For: Ohio Association of Public School Employees/ AFL/CIO/Local #532

By: President

By: Treasurer

ont By: Superintendent

By: <u>Mu A. Uoke</u> President

Ba

By

Union Representative

COVINGTON EVSD CLASSIFIED SALARY SCHEDULE July 1, 2020

B.D. Base 17.130

			Bus			Head	Lunchroom Worker.		Food
STEP	INDEX	Aide	Driver	Custodian	Maintenance	Cook	Cashier,	Secretary	Service
							Ass't Cook		Coord
0	1.000	12.15	20.00	15.80	15.80	12.70	11.87	13.22	13.79
1	1.072	13.02	20.00	16.94	16.94	13.61	12.73	14.17	14.78
2	1.113	13.52	20.00	17.59	17.59	14.14	13.21	14.72	15.35
3	1.154	14.02	20.00	18.23	18.23	14.66	13.70	15.26	15.91
4	1.195	14.52	20.47	18.88	18.88	15.18	14.19	15.80	16.48
5	1.236	15.02	21.17	19.53	19.53	15.70	14.67	16.34	17.04
6	1.278	15.53	21.89	20.19	20.19	16.23	15.17	16.90	17.62
7	1.319	16.03	22.59	20.84	20.84	16.75	15.66	17.44	18.19
8	1.360	16.52	23.30	21.49	21.49	17.27	16.14	17.98	18.75
9	1.401	17.02	24.00	22.14	22.14	17.79	16.63	18.52	19.32
10	1.442	17.52	24.70	22.78	22.78	18.31	17.12	19.07	19.89
11	1.484	18.03	25.42	23.45	23.45	18.85	17.62	19.62	20.46
13	1.505	18.29	25.78	23.78	23.78	19.11	17.86	19.90	20.75
15	1.525	18.53	26.12	24.10	24.10	19.37	18.10	20.16	21.03
18	1.550	18.83	26.55	24.49	24.49	19.69	18.40	20.49	21.37
20	1.566	19.03	26.83	24.74	24.74	19.89	18.59	20.71	21.60
22	1.586	19.27	27.17	25.06	25.06	20.14	18.83	20.97	21.87
25	1.606	19.51	27.51	25.37	25.37	20.40	19.06	21.24	22.15

COVINGTON EVSD CLASSIFIED SALARY SCHEDULE July 1, 2021

B.D. Base 17.300

STEP	INDEX	Aide	Bus Driver	Custodian	Maintananaa	Head	Lunchroom Worker,	Socratory	Food Service
SIEF	INDEA	Alde	Driver	Custouian	Maintenance	Cook	Cashier, Ass't Cook	Secretary	Coord
0	1.000	12.27	20.00	15.96	15.96	12.83	11.99	13.35	13.93
1	1.072	13.16	20.20	17.11	17.11	13.75	12.85	14.31	14.93
2	1.113	13.66	20.20	17.76	17.76	14.28	13.34	14.86	15.50
3	1.154	14.16	20.20	18.42	18.42	14.80	13.83	15.41	16.07
4	1.195	14.66	20.67	19.07	19.07	15.33	14.33	15.96	16.64
5	1.236	15.17	21.38	19.72	19.72	15.85	14.82	16.50	17.21
6	1.278	15.68	22.11	20.39	20.39	16.39	15.32	17.06	17.80
7	1.319	16.19	22.82	21.05	21.05	16.92	15.81	17.61	18.37
8	1.360	16.69	23.53	21.70	21.70	17.44	16.30	18.16	18.94
9	1.401	17.19	24.24	22.36	22.36	17.97	16.80	18.71	19.51
10	1.442	17.70	24.95	23.01	23.01	18.50	17.29	19.25	20.08
11	1.484	18.21	25.67	23.68	23.68	19.04	17.79	19.81	20.67
13	1.505	18.47	26.04	24.02	24.02	19.30	18.04	20.10	20.96
15	1.525	18.71	26.38	24.34	24.34	19.56	18.28	20.36	21.24
18	1.550	19.02	26.82	24.73	24.73	19.88	18.58	20.70	21.59
20	1.566	19.22	27.09	24.99	24.99	20.09	18.77	20.91	21.81
22	1.586	19.46	27.44	25.31	25.31	20.34	19.01	21.18	22.09
25	1.606	19.71	27.78	25.63	25.63	20.60	19.25	21.44	22.37

Increase of 1% on base
COVINGTON EVSD CLASSIFIED SALARY SCHEDULE July 1, 2022 B.D. Base

17.650

			Bus			Head	Lunchroom Worker,		Food
STEP	INDEX	Aide	Driver	Custodian	Maintenance	Cook	Cashier,	Secretary	Service
							Ass't Cook		Coord
0	1.000	12.39	20.00	16.12	16.12	12.95	12.11	13.48	14.07
1	1.072	13.29	20.60	17.28	17.28	13.89	12.98	14.46	15.08
2	1.113	13.79	20.60	17.94	17.94	14.42	13.48	15.01	15.66
3	1.154	14.30	20.60	18.60	18.60	14.95	13.97	15.56	16.23
4	1.195	14.81	21.09	19.26	19.26	15.48	14.47	16.11	16.81
5	1.236	15.32	21.82	19.92	19.92	16.01	14.96	16.67	17.39
6	1.278	15.84	22.56	20.60	20.60	16.56	15.47	17.23	17.98
7	1.319	16.35	23.28	21.26	21.26	17.09	15.97	17.79	18.55
8	1.360	16.85	24.00	21.92	21.92	17.62	16.47	18.34	19.13
9	1.401	17.36	24.73	22.58	22.58	18.15	16.96	18.89	19.71
10	1.442	17.87	25.45	23.24	23.24	18.68	17.46	19.44	20.28
11	1.484	18.39	26.19	23.92	23.92	19.22	17.97	20.01	20.87
13	1.505	18.65	26.56	24.25	24.25	19.50	18.22	20.29	21.17
15	1.525	18.90	26.92	24.58	24.58	19.75	18.46	20.56	21.45
18	1.550	19.21	27.36	24.98	24.98	20.08	18.77	20.90	21.80
20	1.566	19.41	27.64	25.24	25.24	20.29	18.96	21.12	22.03
22	1.586	19.66	27.99	25.56	25.56	20.55	19.20	21.39	22.31
25	1.606	19.90	28.35	25.88	25.88	20.80	19.44	21.66	22.59

Increase of 2% on base

Appendix B

Covington Exempted Village School District Medical Insurance Summary

	TMP <u>Anthem PPO</u> Effective 1/1/2021	HDHP <u>w/H.S.A.</u>
Office Co-pay	20	Ded, then 100%
Urgent Care	35	Ded, then 100%
Emergency Room	75	Ded, then 100%
Prescription Drug Co-pay		
Tier 1	10	Ded, then 100%
Tier 2	20	Ded, then 100%
Tier 3	30	Ded, then 100%
Deductible - In Network	200/400	2000/4000
Out of Network	600/1200	4000/8000
Coinsurance - In Network	90%/10%	100%/0%
Out of Network	70%/30%	70%/30%
Out of Pocket- In Network	2000/4000	2000/4000
Out of Network	4000/8000	8000/10000

Additional:

- 1) Inc 90 day mail order at 2x copay
- 2) Premium Tiers: Single

Employee Plus One or Employee Plus Kids Family

Appendix C

Title	Hours worked per day	Hours worked per week	Start Time	Stop Time
Building Secretaries	8	40	7:30 AM	4:00 PM
First Shift Custodians	8	40	6:30 AM	3:00 PM
Second Shift Custodians	8	40	2:30 PM	11:00 PM
Third Shift Custodian	8	40	11:00 PM	7:30 AM
Head Cook	7	35	7:00 AM	2:30 PM
Head Cook/Food				
Service Coordinator	8	40	6:30 AM	3:00 PM
Cafeteria Workers				
A	3	15	10:00 AM	1:00 PM
В	6	30	7:30 AM	1:30 PM
С	4.5	22.5	9:00 AM	1:30 PM
D	4.0	20.0	9:30 AM	1:30 PM
E	3.5	17.5	10:00 AM	1:30 PM
	1 (plus ½			
Bus Drivers (AM)	for pre)	7.5	7:00 AM	8:00 AM
	1 (plus ½			
Bus Drivers (PM)	for pre)	7.5	2:50 PM	3:50 PM
Educational Aides				
Elementary	7	35	7:45 AM	3:15 PM
Jr. High/High School	7	35	7:45 AM	3:15 PM
Special Needs Van Aide	As Needed	As Needed	As Needed	

THE ADMINISTRATION HAS THE RIGHT TO ADJUST THE START AND STOP TIMES BY UP TO 30 MINUTES WITHOUT ASSOCIATON APPROVAL.

62 - DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING OF CDL LICENSE HOLDERS

The Board of Education believes that the safety of students while being transported to and from school or school activities is of utmost importance and is the primary responsibility of the driver of the school vehicle. To fulfill such a responsibility, each driver, as well as others who perform safety-sensitive functions with Board-owned and/or operated ("Board-owned") vehicles must be mentally and physically alert at all times while on duty. To that end, the Board has established this policy and others related to employees' health and well-being.

For purposes of this policy and the guidelines associated with the policy, the following definitions shall apply.

- A. The term *illegal drug* means drugs and controlled substances, the possession or use of which is unlawful, pursuant to Federal, State, and local laws and regulations.
- B. The term *controlled substance* includes any illegal drug and any drug that is being used illegally, such as a prescription drug that was not legally obtained or not used for its intended purposes or in its prescribed quantity. The term does not include any legally-obtained prescription drug used for its intended purpose in its prescribed quantity unless such use would impair the individual's ability to safely perform safety-sensitive functions.
- C. The term *controlled substance abuse* includes excessive use of alcohol as well as prescribed drugs not being used for prescribed purposes, in a prescribed manner, or in the prescribed quantity.
- D. The term *safety-sensitive functions* includes all tasks associated with the operation and maintenance of Board-owned vehicles.
- E. The term *CDL license holder* means all regular and substitute bus drivers, other staff members who may drive students in Board-owned vehicles or inspect, repair, and maintain Board-owned vehicles.
- F. The term *while on duty* means all time from the time the CDL license holder begins to work or is required to be in readiness for work until the time s/he is relieved from work and all responsibility for performing work.

The Board expects all CDL license holders to comply with Board Policy 4122.01 on Drug Free Schools which prohibits the possession, use, sale, or distribution of alcohol and any controlled substance on school property at all times. Further, the Board concurs with the Federal requirement that all CDL license holders should be free of any influence of alcohol or controlled substance while on duty.

The Board directs the Superintendent to establish a drug and alcohol testing program whereby each regular and substitute bus driver, as well as any other staff member who holds a CDL license, is tested for the presence of alcohol in his/her system as well as for the presence of the following controlled substances:

A. Marijuana

- B. Cocaine
- C. Opiates
- D. Amphetamines
- E. Phencyclidine (PCP)

The drug tests are to be conducted in accordance with Federal and State regulations a.) prior to employment, b.) for reasonable cause, c.) upon return to duty after any alcohol or drug rehabilitation, d.) after any accident, e.) on a random basis, and f.) on a follow-up basis.

Candidates shall also be tested for the presence of alcohol in their system prior to employment.

Any staff member who tests positive shall be prohibited from performing or continuing to perform his/her safety-sensitive functions (e.g., driving any Board-owned vehicle) and be referred to the District's Employee Assistance Program.

Any staff member who refuses to submit to a test shall be prohibited from performing or continuing to perform his/her safety-sensitive functions (e.g., driving any Board-owned vehicle).

Staff member who voluntarily disclose that they have an addiction to alcohol or controlled substances may participate in the Employee Assistance Program, and will qualify for the receipt of medical insurance benefits for treatment of alcohol or substance abuse, including follow-up care, to the extent that such benefits are provided for or offered in the Board's health insurance package. Voluntary disclosure of an alcohol or drug addiction by a staff member will not subject the staff member to disciplinary action unless such disclosure is made after the staff member is selected to be tested or immediately prior to the selection of staff members to be tested. Nothing herein shall prevent the Board from disciplining a staff member for misconduct associated with his/her alcohol and/or drug use regardless of whether the employee has disclosed that s/he has an alcohol or drug addiction.

A staff member will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination, for any of the following reasons:

- A. reports for duty or performs work while having an alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater
- B. reports for duty or performs work while testing positive for using a prohibited drug, or while being under the influence of a prohibited drug
- C. refuses to submit to drug and/or alcohol testing
- D. alters or attempts to alter or unduly influence alcohol and/or drug testing results
- E. fails to remain readily available for post-accident testing (including notifying his/her supervisor of his/her location, if the staff member leaves the scene of the accident prior to the submission of a post-accident test, unless the staff member's departure is to obtain necessary emergency medical care)

Prior to the beginning of the testing program, the Board shall provide a drug-free awareness program which will inform each CDL license holder about:

- A. the dangers of illegal drug use and controlled substance and alcohol abuse;
- B. Board Policy 4122.01 Drug-Free Workplace, Policy <u>4161</u> Unrequested Leaves of Absence, Policy <u>4170</u> - Substance Abuse, and Policy 4170.01 - Employee Assistance Program;
- C. the topics identified in AG 4162A
- D. the sanctions that may be imposed for violations of Policy 4122.01.

All time spent undergoing an alcohol or controlled substance test, including travel time, will be paid at the staff member's regular rate of pay, or at his/her overtime rate, if applicable. Any staff member who is not allowed to return to work while awaiting test results will be compensated during the waiting period for all work time lost, including overtime, if applicable. The Board shall pay all costs associated with the administration of alcohol and controlled substance tests. This includes testing of the "split specimen" at a Federally certified laboratory if so requested by a staff member. The Board will not pay for the employee's time while not on duty, if the split specimen test results are positive.

Alcohol and drug test results shall be protected as confidential medical records as appropriate under the Americans With Disabilities Act (i.e. test results shall be provided on a right to know basis – the employee, the employer, and the substance abuse professional – and the results shall not be presented until analyzed by a Medical Review Officer).

A tested individual, upon written request, will have access to any records relating to his/her use of drugs and alcohol, including any records pertaining to his/her drug and alcohol tests. A tested individual must provide written authorization before his/her test result can be provided to any other person except a government agency specified in the applicable Federal regulations.

All tests shall be conducted in accordance with Federal testing guidelines and be performed by a laboratory that is Federally certified (i.e. testing procedures and devices used will be as set forth in 49 C.F.R. Part 40).

The alcohol and drug testing program shall be under the direction of the Superintendent or designee.

The Superintendent shall arrange for the required amount of training for appropriate staff members in drug recognition, in the procedures for testing, and in the proper assistance of staff members who are subject to the effects of substance abuse.

The Superintendent shall submit, for Board approval, a contract with a certified laboratory to provide the following services:

- A. testing of all first and second test urine samples
- B. clear and consistent communication with the District's Medical Review Officer (MRO)
- C. methodology and procedures for conducting random tests for controlled substances and alcohol
- D. preparation and submission of all required reports to the District, the MRO, and to Federal and State governments

The Superintendent shall also select the agency or persons who will conduct the alcohol Breathalyzer tests, the District's MRO, and the drug collection site(s) in accordance with the requirements of the law.

Educational materials explaining the requirements of the Federal regulations and of the Board's policies and procedures to meet the Federal regulations shall be provided to all staff members, including the following:

- A. the name of the person designated by the Board to answer questions about the materials
- B. information sufficient to make clear to employees the period of the work day during which they are required to comply with the regulations
- C. information concerning what conduct is prohibited
- D. the circumstances under which employees are subject to testing
- E. the procedures for testing in order to protect the employee and the integrity of the testing process, to safeguard the validity of the test results, and to confirm the results are attributed to the correct employee
- F. the requirement that staff members must submit to testing as required by the regulations
- G. an explanation of what constitutes a refusal to be tested and the attendant consequences
- H. the consequences of testing positive, including the requirements of immediate removal from safety-sensitive functions, and the procedures regarding referral, evaluation, and treatment
- I. the consequences for a test indicating an alcohol concentration greater than 0.02, and
- J. information concerning the effects of alcohol and drug misuse on an individual's health, work, and personal life; signs and symptoms of an alcohol problem (the employee's or a co-worker's); and available methods of intervening when a drug or alcohol problem is suspected (including confrontation and how to refer someone to an Employee Assistance Program or to management)

These materials are to be distributed to each staff member upon being hired or transferred into a covered position thereafter. Each staff member must sign a statement certifying receipt of these materials. (See Form 4162 F2) Each employee (and labor organization representing Board employees) shall receive written notice of the availability of this information, and the identity of the Board's designated representative in charge of answering employee questions about the materials.

49 C.F.R. 382.101 et seq.

Appendix E

COVINGTON EXEMPTD VILLAGE SCHOOLS COVINGTON OHIO

GRIEVANCE REPORT

(Step I of Grievance Procedure)

1.	Name of Grievant			
2.	Date of incident giving rise to grievance			
3.	Date of grievance filing			
4.	Was problem discussed with appropriate supervisor?			
	Yes	No		
	Who?	Date		
_				

5. Concise statement of complaint: Facts upon which complaint based and the specific provisions alleged to be violated.

6. Remedy sought:

Signature of Grievant

TO BE FILLED OUT IN TRIPLICATE

COVINGTON EXEMPTED VILLAGE SCHOOLS COVINGTON OHIO

GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM – STEP II

(Administrator's Written Response)

(To be used by the immediate supervisor at Step I of Grievance Procedure)

1. Date received _____

2. Hearing held? Yes _____ No ____ Date _____

3. Disposition by Supervisor:

Date

Signature

Appealed to the Superintendent _____

Date

COVINGTON EXEMPTED VILLAGE SCHOOLS COVINGTON OHIO

GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM – STEP III

Name _____ Date _____

The disposition of this grievance at Step II has not been satisfactory. It is necessary to appeal this grievance to Step III for the following reasons:

Date received _____

Disposition by Superintendent:

Date

Signature

Appealed sent to the American Arbitration Association

COVINGTON EXEMPTED VILLAGE SCHOOLS COVINGTON OHIO

GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM – STEP IV

Name _____ Date _____

The disposition of this grievance at Step III has not been satisfactory. It is necessary to appeal this grievance to Step IV for the following reasons:

Date

Signature

Appendix F

Covington Exempted Village School District Administrative Guidelines

4220 - EVALUATION OF CLASSIFIED STAFF

Each classified employee shall receive at least one (1) written evaluation during the year in year one and two of their employment. Once a staff member has be granted continuing contract, evaluations will be made at least every third year of their employment. At any time, a supervisor may choose to conduct additional evaluations if warranted. Evaluations, in addition to these, are at the discretion of the administration.

The formal evaluation shall be written and shall be discussed by the supervisor and the person being evaluated. The discussions will follow the writing of the evaluation document. Copies of the written document shall be signed by both parties and be incorporated into the personnel file of the employee. In addition, the individual being evaluated shall receive a signed copy. The signature will be an indication that the evaluation has been read and discussed. The employee may prepare and present to the evaluator three (3) copies of an addendum which shall be attached to each evaluation copy if s/he so desires to clarify or add to any point(s).

The written evaluation should be specific in terms of a person's strengths and weaknesses. Those areas where improvement should be made. Subsequent evaluations should address themselves to any improvement or to any continuing difficulty which is observed.

R.C. 3319.081 A.C. 3301-35-03 (A)

Revised 1/06

Appendix G

Covington Exempted Village School District Administrative Guidelines

4231 STAFF DISCIPLINE

The employment of classified staff members may be terminated for violation of written policies and regulations as set forth by the Board or for incompetency, inefficiency, dishonesty, drunkenness, immoral conduct, insubordination, discourteous treatment of the public, neglect of duty, sexual battery, certain ethics violations, conflict of interest or any other acts of misfeasance, malfeasance or nonfeasance.

The Board may also suspend an employee for a definite period of time or demote, with or without pay, an employee for these same reasons.

The action of the Board to terminate the contract of any employee or to suspend or demote him/her is done in compliance with all statutory and constitutionally mandated procedures, including the opportunity for a hearing prior to the termination and, if a hearing is required, prior to the suspension or demotion.